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16 Doors, windows & ironmongery

De Lakenhal
museum, L.eiden

[n a building that had been adapted and extended over 400
years, a project to restore and extend again demanded a
thoughtful balance of old, new and seamless fusion of the two

Words: Jan-Carlos Kucharek Photographs: Karin Borghouts

Builtin 1640 during Holland's Golden Age by city
architect Arent Van’s Gravesande, Leiden’s pa-
latial De Lakenhal cloth hall was testament to
the city’s economic might and the renown of its
main commodity. Butif theimpressive classical
language of its facade spoke in power terms, its
H-shaped plan was far more pragmatic, dealing
with utility and process rather than civic and
global stature. Merchants arrived by boat at its
canal-side walled courtyard, submitting their
goods toinitial quality controlin the openair or
beneath the sheltering arcades of its two wings.
From there merchants were received in the
hall’s ground floor vestibule and left to wait in
De Lakenhal’s northern courtyard, their goods
taken to the first-floor trading hall to be sold.

Off this maintrading hall four rooms served
official and ceremonial purposes for the cloth
guild: the Governor’s Office, the Steelmaster’s
Office, the Brewmaster’s Room to oil the wheels
of business, and, perhaps most importantly, the
Stamp Room. Here, cloth meeting the guild’s
Right T he south face
of the De Lakenhal

fracing onto

museum facing
the canal.

Opposite The new
extension containing
the cafte dppears as

tervention.

Products in Practice September/October 2019

quality standards was ‘stamped’ with a lead
embossing of the city’s coat of arms, making
it tradeable globally. Visitors to De Lakenhal
Museum will chance upon this motif all over
Rotterdam firm Happel Cornelisse Verhoeven’s
new extension — with conservation and refur-
bishmentby London’s Julian Harrap Architects.

If these historical functions appear self-evi-
denttothe visitor, that tooisduetothearchitects,
as changinguse and piecemeal additionininter-
vening yearshad rendered the original building
almostunrecognizable. A public museum opened
in 1870 in its attic storey, reached by a new stair
inthenorth courtyard, thelowest flight of which
was relocated when the new Harteveltzaal gal-
lery was built two decades later. A neo-classi-
cal extension with its own entry, added to the
museum’s east wing, it compounded the spa-
tial confusion with a warren of internal corri-
dors. And when a 1980s steel and polycarbonate
canopy clumsily enclosed the south courtyard,
the building’s descent from monumental via the
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north. It created two new state of the art gal-
lery spaces below stacked service and admin-
istrative functions for the museum, and had at
its heart the notion of stripping away past addi-
tionstoreveal De Lakenhalinitsformerguise—a
taskthat HCV Architects felt wasbest addressed
with Harraps’ expert input. Under Harraps' re-
instatement and reinterpretation of the past
plan, legibilityis created for visitors withthe £16
million result revealing the south courtyard in
its full glory and the stair and circulation in the
northcourtyard making way for an orientating,
internal central atrium, the Achterplaets.

The museum'’s new, four-storey post-modern
north elevation, overlooking the Lammermarkt
public square, is the most obvious aspect of this
transformation. Butifitlooksradically different
totherestof De Lakenhal, HCV was, says partner
Paul Verhoeven, inspired by Gravesande’s orig-
inal design. “While the concrete structure of its
rear elevation is quite tall, we emulated his ide-
astornitigate its scale with the Lammermarkt,’
he explains. “Where Gravesande used projecting
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Above T he original vestibule is now the official
entrance to the museum. New steel doors pre

visitors for the interventions within.

™ Lammermarkt

pare

T B

ERRRY

wings to deal with the lower scale of the canal
frontage and the taller palace behind, we have
fused the two in our elevation.’ Here, brick cor-
belling reveals itself by degrees from the fa-
cade of pale grey/green Petersen brick, de-
lineating in negative the roofline edging the
Lammermarkt, resulting in its angled window
profile. Verhoeven adds that the decision to min-
imise surface modulationat upper levels wasbe-
hind the gold powder-coated aluminium win-
dow sections, detailed to keep brick, glass and
frame in line with each other. Seen together,
there’s a sense of almost defensive drama.

[t's one aided by the complexity of the brick-
workinitsrusticated base which required thou-
sands of hand-cast ‘specials’. While keeping the
museum’s main entrance via the south court-
yard was as much an emotional as practical de-
cision, it did avoid any need for circulation from
the Lammermarkt side. But even on this ‘ser-
vice' side of the building, there’s robust dig-
nity to the detailing. The steel access door for
trucks delivering artworks was designed with
artist Hansje van Halem and is counter-pointed
by the smaller entrance to workshop and office
floors above. Balancing the modulated triptych

ribaj.com
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Museum growth over time

© 0 NGO R OWN -

19

1640 (green)
Original building

De Lakenhal vestibule entrance
South courtyard

Achterplaets

New small gallery

New large gallery

Hartveltzaal

Papevleugel building (1928)
Refurbished auditorium

New education room

Cafe

Cloaks and WCs

Loading bay

Service lift

Admin entrance

Former position of Joristrap stair
New position of Joristrap stair
First floor old gallery

Second floor old gallery (former museum)

Gallery workshops

20 Office/admin

21

Library/breakout space

22 Concrete light funnels

Long section AA
e — :

L i

JiF=m=== )
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© |

2019 (yellow)

1928 (pink)
Papevleugel building

1890 (blue)

Harteveltzaal added HCV/Julian Harrap Architects extension/

refurbishment
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b
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Above The large picture window in the new north
galley looks out to the Lammermarkt. Overhead,
HCV's precast light funnels add height and further

illumination.
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of openingsisthelarge arched deep-set window
that gives direct views in and out of the gallery
— across to the 18th century De Valk windmill.
The three arches reference its hemispherical
cap, Verhoeven points out.

From outside, HCV's intervention is less ob-
vious on the canal side, where the firm replaced
an earlier extension with a narrow strip that
provides a café and WCs accessed from street,
courtyard or vestibule. It might be small, butit’s
articulated. ‘Like the north elevation, we cre-
ated a base plinth, mid section and crown. It's
classical butinamodern way,’ notes Verhoeven.

Internally, the biggest moves were reserved
for the two new galleries and the north court-
yard; revealingthem necessitated wholesale re-
movalof 150 yearsof random poché —including,
controversially, the Joristrap staircase. But its
snug repositioning behind the café was crucial
to unlocking circulation, explains Verhoeven.
Once more, Gravesande’s north wings project
visibly from his main block, forming three
sides of the enclosed, rooflit Achterplaets, the
north side of which has the entrance to the
Harteveltzaal and HCV’s new galleries. ‘With
the maze of corridors removed, the old north
courtyard is the new orientation point for the

ribaj.com
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Above Ticketing desk
and furniture were
designed by HCV.
Beyond, a new door sits
ina 1929 architrave.
Above right A sensitive

light-touch approach

was used for the

Harteveltzaal.

Right The muted greens
and wall paintings of the
Brewmaster's Room.
Bottom left Access
stair from vestibule to
the first floor galleries.
Bottom right The new
cafe to the west of the

vestibule.

R o o e L

museum, letting visitors move easily into our
block, the original building, Harteveltzaal, or
the 1928 wing,’ explains Verhoeven. Its ‘intelli-
gent roof’ is formed of steel beams stretching its
length, each alternate one containing a gutter for
the double-glazed roof panels that run in a low
zig-zag across it. High-level air feeds at the pe-
rimeter invisibly condition the space, exhaust-
ing out through De Lakenhal's ground floor ves-
tibule. Voids between bricks onitsnorth face aid
acousticinsulationtoleave thisconcrete-floored
hard space comfortably attenuated.

The two sizeable new galleries are charac-
terized by HCV'’s run of imposing precast con-
crete ‘light funnels’, which were craned onto
site. At 11.7m and 8.2m long respectively, each
3.1m wide 1.7m high funnel is topped with in
a glass panel, allowing artificial light to scak
down to the galleries. And it brought addition-
al benefits, says Verhoeven. ‘The funnel design
added height to the spaces, which gives them
real loftiness. Not only that, but the smaller
gallery, with no offices above it, can be natural-
ly lit." The upcoming Rembrandt exhibition in
November may avail itself of this option.

The radical re-establishment of the two
courtyards was part of the refurbishment strat-
egy. ‘Opening the south court and moving tick-
eting back into the vestibule re-established the
space astheformal reception it was historically,’
says Julian Harrap Architects’ Robert Sandford.
‘And opening up the north courtyard created a
place of assembly as well as clearly distinguish-
ing De Lakenhal’s constituent parts.’

Distinguishing parts sums up Harraps’ ap-
proach to the restoration of the old cloth hall -
characterized more by creative interpretation

Products In Practice September/October 2019



than by faithful restoration. To do it, the irm
tock a view on almost every detail, resorting to
revealing past layers, 17th century prints and
drawings and, at times, sheer gut instinct. But
the firm alwaysintended to make it subtly clear
when it wasinterveningon old structure which,
explains Sandford, accounts for the bespoke de-
tailing on all the doors and windows. He con-
cedes that very little of the original building
remained, requiring forensic hunting through
thebuilding’sreserve or contemporary records.

For instance, 1850 prints showed the walls
and small doors of the four wings off the trading
hall before they were opened out as large arch-
es.‘Theremodellinglost the meaning of why the
wing rooms were smaller and more decorative,’
says Sandford. ‘With the help of the sketches, we
rebuilt them asthey were to their rough dimen-
sions and with shouldered architraves.’ Painted
in three layers of mineral paint, the scale and
feel of the original space is restored, helped by
thereplacement of parquet with a‘new’ old floor
of sourced English oak boards. Rebuilding the
walls allowed duct runs to be optimized.

The firm made any new doors clearly mod-
ern, as gold powder-coated steel units. In one
example a pair is set within twin timber arch-
es that had been moved from the ground floor
gallery to the trading hall above to access the
staircase. Where doors were specified in exist-
ing openings, such as the vestibule’s stair and
lift access, there was another approach. ‘New
doorsina pastalteration were done asamodern

Products In Practice September/October 2019
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As for the cream-
painted Bentheim
sandstone, it too got
the Harraps treatment.

‘Julian thought she had
too much make-up on’

Left Upper level admin areas in
the north extension above the
main gallery have strong spatial
components and a muted palette.
Bottom The north elevation’s
brickwork required a number of
‘specials’ to generate its curious
pixelated quality.

version of old panelled doorsofthe 17th century,
with flush handles rather than traditional turn
ones,’ adds Sandford. It explains, he continues,
the anomaly in the west vestibule wall, where
the ‘new’ door into the 1928 extension looks the
same as the other two but retains its large plas-
ter architrave. “We were always trying to make
the distinction between what's “original origi-
nal” and “original contemporary”.’

The same strategy went for the windows.
Where they were re-revealed in the clear out
of the north courtyard, Harraps looked to two
windowswithoriginalhingesandironmongery
that had survived the overhauls of 1778 and the
1930s: “Where we were reinstating windows
in their original positions we used the original
designs and ironmongery and had blacksmiths
fabricate it for us. Contemporary windows used
new ironmongery. Secondary glazing behind
the old south windows used contemporary oak
frames and ironmongery. It sounds confusing
but they are subtle intricacies that reveal them-
selves to the viewer that takes the time to look.’

Harraps acted with the same confidence
externally. Sizeable gaps between frames and
brickwork were not re-pointed but filled with
mortar, scored with a course line and ‘painted’
to emulate the brick tint. ‘With limited means
we were not looking at the academic exercise of
faithfulinfill butusing processesthatallowed us
to make the architecture read as a whole with-
out seeing the point where we intervened,’ says
Sandford. ‘It took alot of thought and expertise.’

As for the cream-painted Bentheim sand-
stone, whitened since it became fashionable in
1653, it too got the Harraps treatment. ‘Julian
thought she had too much make-up on,’ remarks
Sandford. It toowasduly strippedback toitsbare
ochre colour after removing a ‘tenacious’ layer
of black patination. ‘Revealed, we saw it was of
fantastic quality and were loath to sandblast it,
so we applied a thin tinted colourwash.’ It picks
the stone out elegantly against the red brick and
givesareal sense of repose tothe canal elevation.

Both architects, from PiP’s visit, have more
than fulfilled the brief they were set, creating a
restored, energized and intelligible modern mu-
seum thatisimmensely popular with the public.
Inthe month since it reopened more than 10,000
visitors have passed through its doors — up from
50,000 a year when it closed. De Lakenhal has
impressed itself on the city once again.
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